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  NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING.


Friday, September 28, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:05 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Good morning, everyone.  We are sitting today to hear the reply argument from Enersource.


Are there any preliminary matters?


MS. HELT:  No preliminary matters, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Mr. Vegh, whenever you're ready.

Reply Argument by Mr. Vegh:


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and good morning.  And good morning, Ms. Conboy and Ms. Long.


We did provide Board counsel with a deck that we intend to use to assist in oral argument, and perhaps we could just mark that as a -- for identification purposes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.


MS. HELT:  We can mark that as K6.1.  And I have provided a copy to the Panel members, Mr. Vegh.

EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  SLIDE DECK

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  And I thought I would start with just a bit of a game plan for this morning before getting into the substantive submissions.  As I say, I provided a deck, and it's a large deck.  It's about 95, 96 slides.  It includes both the excerpts from transcripts that we rely upon, as well as excerpts from other evidence, so it's a stand-alone document.  There's no additional compendium.  That explains the length in part.


But I also would like to just address how I plan to go through the deck, because I don't plan to read every slide to you, and it may be helpful to lay that out upfront.


The deck is really divided into two halves, effectively.  The first half addresses three main issues, which is the role of comparators, performance measurement, et cetera.  There has been a lot of discussion about that.  It addresses the ICR proposal, and it addresses the Derry Road building.


And that takes you up 'til around deck -- page 49.  So that -- half of the deck deals with those three issues.  And obviously I will spend more time on those three issues.  They gained a lot more attention than some of the other issues in this filing.


And the second half of the deck deals with detailed responses to each of the intervenor positions on various proposed disallowances, different cost points.  And with respect to the second half, how we have put this together

-- maybe I will just show you as an example so you will see how we plan to use the deck and, when you take it with you, how you can use it.


If you turn up page 49, that's when the second half starts.  What we have done for each topic is to identify the intervenor position, identify the Enersource position, and the evidence that Enersource relies upon in support of that position.


So it's pretty punchy and point-by-point.  It's not a very elaborate argument, but I think you will find it very helpful as an aid to consider the intervenor arguments and our reply to them.


And I don't plan on going through each one of these slides with you.  I think they largely speak for themselves.  It's not that we don't think these points are important.  They are obviously important.  But I don't think it's necessary for me to read to you what's in these slides.  They speak for themselves.


I will go through them, and I will linger on some of them, but I think for most of them I will just direct you to them, perhaps give you our bottom-line position, but not take you through the blow-by-blow.  As I say, I think they speak largely for themselves.  Of course, if there are some particular issues you would like me to address in more detail, I would be happy to do that.


And just -- so I mentioned the second half.  I don't plan on going through every particular slide.  The one exception that I will linger on a bit is with respect to specific OM&A costs that are proposed to be disallowed.  They really do add up, so I think it's important to, from just a -- from a materiality perspective to spend a little more time on them.


But you will see with OM&A, even there, I mention the first half deals -- the first half of the deck deals with performance measurement, ICR, and the building.  In performance measurement we get -- there is a discussion around the role of, say, a top-down approach to OM&A.


So it's bit out of order, but I think it makes more sense as we go through it.  And then the second half deals with the specific claims against the OM&A costs.


So I just wanted to set out that game plan, as I said, for the deck to assist in the receipt of submissions this morning.  And I understand that the Panel -- or that the Panel wants to be completed by lunchtime, and I will, of course, accommodate that.


So I would like to get into my submissions now.  And the first point I would like to address under this heading of "context and overview", looking at performance measures.  And here is how I propose to approach this.  There has been a lot of discussion in this application and in the evidence on the role of metrics to evaluate how Enersource has performed, how it compares to other utilities, how it has

-- and how it has performed on its own terms as well, and they have also been used to inform intervenor positions on allowable OM&A costs and the so-called top-down method.


The positions of the parties on this are all quite clear, and the position of the parties on, you know, what is the appropriate metric is also quite clear, and those are addressed in Enersource's arguments in-chief, paragraphs 12 to 24.


And I am not going to go through "our metric is better than their metric".  I would like to address more broadly at this stage in the proceedings after we have heard a lot about metrics to just step back a bit and have a broader consideration of what these metrics really mean and what they mean in the context of this application.


Like all metrics, they are a description of something.  But it's important to go beyond just the metrics, just the numbers, and look behind them and to see what kind of -- you know, what's the relevance of the information that's being provided, and that, of course, is driven by the context in which you review these -- review these materials.


So it's not a question of whose metric is better.  It's a question of, a little more deeply, what is the utility trying to achieve here, what is the mandate of the Board in reviewing this cost of service rebasing, and then with that context, what is the appropriate consideration of the activities that the utility is carrying on, and how do you measure that.


So as I look at slide 3 here, when we look at the comparative performance measures, it's important to look at the relevance and, as I say, the meaning behind the metric.  And by "relevance" I mean, what is the context in which we are looking at these metrics, and the context here, of course, is a cost of service rebasing.


Ultimately a cost of service rebasing is a review of the prudence of expenditures.  We're not involved in this cost of service rebasing in a formulaic adjustment, as we are in an IRM year.


So the use of these metrics, the use of these comparators, should be understood in the context of a prudence review.  And it can inform a prudence review, but it's not supposed to replace a prudence review.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I am going to just stop you there, Mr. Vegh, and just ensure that we are on all-fours as to your terminology.


The Board generally has used the term "prudence review" in the context of examining expenditures after the fact.  For example, potentially the building, to the extent the money has already been spent, might be subject to some form of prudence review.  And the Board has, of course, articulated its principles around the presumption that the utility has acted prudently, the requirement that any after-the-fact review be done within the context of the decisions, knowing the information at the time the decisions were made.


To the extent that a great deal of the revenue requirement is in fact based on a future test year, is "prudence" really the right term, or is it the same standard?  Is there supposed to be a presumption?  I think it would be helpful for us to understand the company's position on that.  Or is it a matter of, are the forecasts reasonable?  Are they appropriate?  Do they lead to just and reasonable rates?


MR. VEGH:  Well, thank you for raising that point, because I think the concept of prudence is a more complicated one than people often assume.


And if I could parse that out a bit, I think the test is still prudence, but the presumption of prudence, as this Board has made clear in recent decisions, is different if you -- has a different function if you are looking at costs already incurred versus costs that are intended to be incurred, and that is an important -- I understand that the Board treats it as an important difference, but it's not that that is no longer considering prudence.  I think the discussion is more around the presumption of prudence and how you apply that presumption of prudence in a cost of service review.  And as you indicate Madam Chair, the Board has said, they really apply it -- or one of the main reasons for applying it now is to not second-guess management decisions with the benefit of hindsight.  And I do appreciate that.  I am going to make submissions in a moment that the presumption of prudence goes a little bit beyond that, as well, but it does include that consideration of not judging decisions with the benefit of hindsight.  And in fact, this is what I was going to turn to.


So when we look at the prudence review -- I am going to page 4 -- I address this presumption of prudence, which I think does continue to apply in a cost of service rebasing, but it's a little more subtle than perhaps some of the earlier assertions of presumption of prudence or the application of that.


And when I talk about the presumption of prudence, I am not talking about a legally enforceable standard.  So I know the divisional court grants the Board a lot of leeway in its treatment of prudence, a presumption of prudence, and I am not arguing that there is -- that the court has got it wrong or that the Board should change its approach to meet legal standard.  I am arguing more from the premises of good practices of public utility regulation, good principles of public utility regulation, and how the presumption of prudence applies there, not as a legal requirement but as, really, a regulatory requirement.


The way I would present the presumption of prudence, and I address this on slide 4, is that it's ultimately a form of governance.  The form of governance is that there is a different role for management of a utility and for the regulators of a utility.  The managers make decisions, and the regulators don't second-guess those decisions without a good reason for second-guessing those decisions.  One of the reasons for doing that, Madam Chair, as you say, is not because you shouldn't apply the benefit of hindsight, but I do submit that it goes beyond that and that it's a more general proposition that there is a difference between -- responsibilities between managers of utilities and regulators of utilities.  They play fundamentally different roles and the presumption of prudence informs those different roles.


And at slide 5, I have a quotation from Alfred Khan, of course the great authority on public utility regulation and of course one of the -- as well as a theoretician; he also led many federal regulatory agencies in the US.  And he talks about the presumption of prudence, and it's at page 5, and I do want to read you this quote.  As I said, I won't read every page but I think this is an important one to set up the discussion.  He says:

"The effective regulation of operating expenses and capital outlays would require a detailed day-by-day, transaction-by-transaction, decision-by-decision review of every aspect of the company's operation.  Commissioners could do so only if they are prepared to completely duplicate the role of management itself, and the society has never been willing to have commissions fulfil the role of management, each with an equally pervasive role in its operations."


So the point is as a role of governance, when the regulator sits reviewing a utility's decision, they are not managing the utility.  Their decisions around prudence are informed by the basic premise that they don't -- they give some, call it, deference, some role for management to make decisions.  And this is not -- I want to emphasize -- particularly because I can hear Mr. Warren's words echoing in my ear -- I want to emphasize this is not a critique of regulation.  This is not a criticism of regulation.  As I say, this comes from Alfred Kahn, who is one the leading regulators and regulatory theorists, and a big believer in regulation.  But the point is that management, by an approach of sort of disallowance -- every time you just would have done something differently than management would have done in a utility -- is not a proper form of governance when it comes to the different roles of regulators and managers.


So the presumption of prudence is not -- continues to apply for reasons of governance, not just for reasons of hindsight.


MS. CHAPLIN:  How do you reconcile this, your position around this presumption of prudence with the statutory requirement that the onus is on the applicant to prove their case?  In other words, you have to prove that the request by Enersource is reasonable.  How do you -- I am having trouble reconciling those two.


MR. VEGH:  Yes, there is an onus to prove the case, and that means you need evidence to prove the case and that's what the utility has conformed with, but then -- so there is no question of who has the onus; it's really a question of:  How does the Board, then, evaluate that evidence?  What weight do you give to the trade-offs that management made?  Are those -- were those trade-offs reasonable as opposed to -- I mean, you could draw an analogy.  When the courts review the OEB, they don't also ask themselves:  What would I do if I were in that position?  That's not really the role of the courts in reviewing the OEB.  It is:  Did the OEB make a reasonable approach?


And I would submit that there's an analogy to that.  When you look at the decisions of management, were those decisions reasonable?  Did they make the right trade-offs?  Did they balance the right things?  And if they did, then you don't have to step in as a secondary board of directors and say:  I would have done something differently.


So I am not shying away from the onus; it's more a question, I suppose, of the standard.  And it's -- I want to emphasize that when I say the presumption of prudence continues to apply, it's not a matter of carte blanche either.  It's not a matter of each utility manager gets some kind of special waiver to go and do what they want.  As I say in my argument in-chief, and as I try to emphasize at slide 6 here, as well, it's earned.


And that's why the performance measures are relevant.


When management can demonstrate that they have done a good job in managing the utility, they made the trade-offs, they have done the best job they could at making the trade-offs, and they are actually producing good results for their customers, there is less need and less role for the Board to step in and remedy those decisions.


Because when you go back to Kahn, I think it's clear that he says you can disallow -- of course, you have the legal authority to disallow, but it's remedial.  It's remedial when you are no longer confident that management is making the right decisions, making the right trade-offs.  The Board can step in, but it shouldn't always step in and -- because it's a remedial action, and so you should look at -- when the utility is performing well, where is less need for the Board to step in.  And I think that's entirely consistent with discussions we hear from the Board, as well as regulators throughout the western world really, in Europe and the US, to be more focussed on outcomes than the micromanagement of utilities.  And your confidence in doing that, I submit, is based on the performance of the utility.


And again, we are getting back to -- what I am trying to address here is:  Why do these performance measures matter?  Because they inform the presumption of prudence.  And when a utility is performing well, there is more, in a sense -- I wouldn't say more leeway.  You can have more trust in their judgment and less need for the Board to intervene and set aside decisions.  That's why, I submit, performance is relevant.


And so, this -- so in my submission, the presumption of prudence is aligned with these performance measures, and the relevance of the performance measures is to inform the exercise of the disallowance power and the presumption of prudence.


I am going to get to -- I am going to return to specific measures and my submissions on Enersource's performance, but what I want to address now before getting to those –- and I'll start at slide 7 -- are different approaches that intervenors have proposed with respect to the relevance of the performance management debate that we have been -- not performance -- performance measurement discussions that we have been having.


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Vegh, is it your position, then, that these performance measures are informative for regulators in trying to assess the level of good management, if you will?  Is that the primary benefit of these performance measures?  Is there any utility for a company to use those performance measures, as well?


MR. VEGH:  I am going to address that in the context of Enersource's particular performance measures on its own performance, but I will submit, just to foreshadow that, I think as a practical matter the ability of using this comparative information from OEB yearbooks as a management tool are really very limited.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. VEGH:  But I will address that in more detail.


MS. CONBOY:  Please.


MR. VEGH:  And that's one of the alternative approaches to these performance measures.  There are, I think, two schools of thought that we see from the intervenors, and that is at slide 7 of my deck.


One is, you could use these performance measures not to inform prudence, but effectively to replace prudence, to replace a prudence review, and that's sometimes called a top-down approach.


And the other school of thought is that -- and this is the one I think, Ms. Conboy, that I was suggesting in response to your question, was that you can use comparative data as a management tool, and I submit that it's not an effective management tool.


But first I am going to address the top-down approach which, in my submission, is using these performance measures in effect to replace a prudence review.


Because a top-down approach -- I'm at slide 8 now -- what it largely results in is applying a formulaic adjustment during a cost of service rebasing.


And that's very problematic because, unlike an IRM adjustment, there has been no rigour or analysis of what this top-down adjustment or comparison consists of.  It appears to be discretionary, even arbitrary, and you see that in the submission that the intervenors have put forward on a proposed menu of top-down approaches, and this is particularly with respect to OM&A costs since the last rebasing.


Energy Probe says, well, it should be a 2.5 percent annual OM&A from 2008 approved costs.  SEC says 5 percent annual OM&A from 2008 actuals.  And so unlike IRM, there has been no thorough analysis of, what are these -- what are these benchmarks?  What are these comparators?  How can they be used to inform this?  It does seem to be a little more ad hoc and less -- as I say, has less rigour.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, Mr. Vegh, I won't go to the specifics of each of those proposals, but weren't they derived directly from a combination of inflation, customer growth, the switch to IFRS?  Did those parties not -- they didn't just pull those numbers out of the air.  They linked them to real facts on the ground, did they not?


MR. VEGH:  I recall an interaction where Ms. Long asked Mr. Shepherd where his number came from, and it sounded to me like he pulled it out of the air.  I think Energy Probe did have a little more rigour to its numbers, but again, those numbers -- there is no sort of Board policy on what these comparators are and what are the relevant ones, and I don't think there has been a thorough analysis, and if we are going to replace -- if we are going to replace a cost of service analysis, a prudence analysis, if you will, with a formulaic adjustment, then what is the right approach to that formula, given, you know, we have gone -- given utilities have gone through an IRM period.


So that's one approach, what I call this top-down approach, and I think it's quite limited, and so our submissions on OM&A expenditures look at what those actual expenditures were, what were the cost drivers for it, what is the evidence about those in support.


And again, Energy Probe, as well as addressing this top-down approach, had detailed submissions on specific OM&A expenditures.  And when we get to OM&A, as I indicated, we have evidence on each of those proposals, and we will make submissions that the drivers are real and the OM&A expenditures are reasonable, and that you should determine them on the merits of the expenditures and not a formulaic adjustment, particularly on OM&A because, as we are going to get to, and as you have seen throughout the course of this hearing, OM&A is one component of costs, and there are trade-offs between OM&A and capital, so I don't think you can have a lot of confidence to say that some OM&A index tells you something meaningful about the performance of the utility on its own.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Vegh, one more question in this area.  I am trying to reconcile your dismissal of a top-down approach with the trouble you took to, in fact, not only quote Professor Khan, also read it in, you know, the idea that it's not practical for us to do a line-by-line, blow-by-blow analysis of every expenditure decision that management makes.


So does that not suggest -- does that not suggest that some sort of top-down or envelope or overall -- looking at overall growth patterns has some relevance to our decision-making?


MR. VEGH:  I didn't say it doesn't have relevance to your decision-making.  I said it can inform the presumption of prudence, so that when a utility is performing poorly and you are comfortable with the data that there has been poor performance from the utility, then you do have a greater role to intervene and set aside the -- in effect, set aside the decisions of utility management.


So I'm not -- again, I am not saying performance is irrelevant, or even that these measures are inappropriate.  I have heard a few intervenors say that Enersource doesn't believe you can compare it to anyone else because Enersource thinks it's so special.


That's not the -- that's not the case at all.  Enersource has put forward comparative evidence, but did indicate that as a managerial tool it's not -- it's not that informative and it's not that effective.  But it's not hiding from a comparison at all.


But this gets to the second point, regulatory management, and I think this point comes more from the CCC, and this is where they used the comparators -- I am on slide 9 now -- for the Board to require utility management to use OEB data as a management tool and to then punish utilities that don't use this data as a management tool.


And this came up most clearly in response to -- you will recall there were a few exchanges about capital and OM&A expenditure, and I think it was Mr. Macumber here who was being cross-examined by Mr. Warren, and Mr. Macumber said, well, one of the problems with -- or not one of the problems, one of the limitations, one of the inherent limitations of the data around capital and OM&A expenditures, is that it's different among utilities, that the capitalization is quite different, the policies are quite different.


And in our argument in-chief, Mr. Shepherd was aware of that too.  There is pretty extensive variance of these policies, and therefore it's not really that useful information.  To pick up a utility average from the yearbook, that's descriptive, but it doesn't have much prescriptive value.  It doesn't really give you much direction on what you should do with that information.


And Mr. Warren was very critical of that, and I have excerpted the cross-examination at page 10.  And this is just the end of it.  I won't read it all to you, except perhaps the last couple of lines.  And Mr. Macumber says "we don't use that data to run our business".  And Mr. Warren is very critical and says "you don't even look at it, do you", so it's -- and then in argument on slide 11 he says -- this is again quoting from Mr. Warren -- that this information, the comparable data coming from the Board's yearbooks, should be used in a thorough, disciplined way by utilities themselves to assess their performance.  And there is a major criticism of Enersource for not doing that because, as the evidence was clear, Enersource doesn't go through comparative data and say, Well, here is, you know, OM&A per customer for this utility.  Here is something else for that utility.  How do we compare about that when we make our managerial decisions?

MS. CHAPLIN:  But weren't they suggesting something a little deeper than that, in the sense of certainly the headline numbers might suggest something, but I thought their point was that the information about other utilities within Ontario is entirely transparent, and that it is certainly open to Enersource or to any utility to indeed look through that comparative data to find similar companies and to assure itself and perhaps assure the Board that they are as efficient as they can be.


So I don't think it was just a matter of, you know, sort of dismissing, oh, the headline metrics as being -- because I think we would all take your point that there are many differences which might explain the variations.


But wasn't their point that because of the way we regulate and because of the transparency of the cost drivers that there is a wealth of information which any utility has available to itself by which to assess its performance in comparison to quite similar entities?


MR. VEGH:  There is transparent information available.  There are, I think, even the Board -- when the Board is going through the regulatory framework review.  You have heard from experts back and forth talking about the limitations of the data collection.  That's not being critical of that data collection.

But if you are sitting down -- and we are going to go through this, but if you are sitting down in the position of utility manager, saying, I have to make a decision about a series of assets.  Do I invest in new assets?  Do I repair old assets?  Going through the yearbook data is not going to provide you with a lot of information to make a going-forward decision.


Sure, going -- you know, looking back it's possible to make some comparisons, but even then it's quite difficult.  When you have a capitalization policy that does vary quite dramatically among utilities, and you say, Did I, you know, did I spend too much relative on OM&A over capital?  You can know that you are below the average.  You can know that you are above the average, but that doesn't really tell you whether you are outperforming or underperforming what you should be doing.  And I am going to get to that quite explicitly, because Enersource does have a management approach which is lowest long-term lifetime cost, and that's how it makes its decisions around asset management.  And that's a managerial principle; you can manage towards that.


And I am submitting that not only can you not manage towards utility averages based on OEB data, the OEB should not be trying to get utility managers to try to manage towards utility averages based on OEB data.  And I will get to that in a moment. 

Because there are some challenges with respect to using that information in utility management, and these are at slide 13, and I think we might have covered this in the back-and-forth we just had now, the relevance of the comparators.  There are a lot of comparators out there.  So which one do you choose?


The availability of data, and we have talked about that; there are some real challenges on that.  And most importantly, the impact of meeting customer needs.


The critique against Enersource in this case seems to be that they are undercapitalized and using OM&A instead of capital.  Well, consider the impact to the customers on that.  It's more expensive for customers to make capital additions than OM&A expenditures; there is a return on capital.  And it's ironic because, again, you go back to regulatory theory, the theory is normally utilities are trying to lard up rate base because that's where they get a return.  Well, that's not what's been happening here.  So you have the odd critique coming from -– critique of OM&A expenditures, without taking into account that the utility is actually earning less because of OM&A, which is a pass-through, than it would under capital, where it would earn a return.

So if you want to look at what's the best impact on customers, again, you should -- the utility averages out of the yearbooks don't tell you that.

Also, there was lot of cross-examination about:  Well, what if you heard if another utility bought a transformer for $2 million less than you?  And this, again, was completely plucked out of the air.  And what you have is a response from management saying:  Well, we have a rigorous procurement process.  We go to three parties to bid on transformers, and that's a lot more useful than trying to analyze a transformer purchased by another utility based on some anecdotal evidence of what it cost.  Does it even serve the same function?


So I suggest as a managerial tool what Enersource is using in its procurement practices and its management decision-making is much more valuable and useful for customers than these comparisons.


And this gets into the question of -- I am going to the next point now, which is Enersource has proposed a metric of total cost versus kilowatt-hours, but as I say, I want to go behind that, because it's not just a metric.  It's not just a matter of comparing this chart versus another chart.


What this reflects in Enersource's managerial strategy and decision-making is a central ethic to how it runs its business.  It looks at the total cost to customers for decisions it has to make in asset management, and ultimately that's what these distributors do, is asset management.  They run distribution systems.  And they look at what's a total long-term cost of ownership.


You will see at page 14 there is a quotation from Mr. Shepherd, I think in responding to a question to you, Madam Chair, about when he was so critical of OM&As, that OM&A should be cut back.  And you said:  Then don't you have to give them some credit, because they are undercapitalized according to Mr. Shepherd's own theory?  And Mr. Shepherd said:  Yes, sure, that's possible that they are doing that; it's possible that Enersource is spending more on maintenance and fixing things rather than replacing things.  It's possible, but you don't have any evidence of that.


I find that a remarkable statement.  If you look at the next page, on page 15 there is excerpt from cross-examination.  Mr. Faye was cross-examining Mr. Pastoric on this very issue, and I put in bold where Mr. Pastoric deals with this very point.  He says:

"We have a belief that we should try to fix it rather than replace it any time something goes wrong."


The next line, again bolded:

“We try to fix it first, and if that's beyond what our engineers believe is acceptable through our principles, then we replace it and put it into our future plans to replace it."


Now, I say this not just in kind of the litigation "gotcha" of there is evidence that contradicts an assertion by counsel, but the inability to appreciate this point is, in my submission, a misunderstanding of the fundamental managerial imperative that Enersource applies that informed this metric, but it's not driven by a metric so much.  It's a managerial imperative to have the lowest cost of delivery from a long-term perspective.


I just want to give you some references to this total cost management.  At page 16, there is an excerpt from the asset management plan.  There wasn't a lot of discussion on the asset management plan in the hearing; they didn't get a lot of cross-examination on it.  But you will see the driving principle -- without reading this to you, just the highlighted term -- lowest long-term owning costs.  That's what drives Enersource's decisions around its assets, and the asset management plan goes through in detail on almost an asset-by-asset basis what Enersource should be doing on longer-term basis with respect to these assets.  And it's always driven by that choice, lowest long-term owning cost.


Now, I am going to -- sorry for going out of order here, but I am going to jump ahead just a couple of slides and I will come back to it later.  And I want to continue on this lower long-term ownership cost, but before I continue with more evidence on it, I would like to take you to slide 21 and, as I say, then I will go back.


And it is out of order because slide 21 is dealing with the ICR and the Board's regulatory framework review.  But the OEB Chair did make a speech just two days ago at the Board of Trade, where the Chair was speaking about the regulatory review framework, and -- second bullet point, and she said:

"Maintaining a focus on total costs will encourage utilities to make choices between infrastructure investments and non-capital solutions based on what is the least cost over the long-term."


And I put it to you that that is virtually identical to the management ethic and strategy that's driving Enersource's decisions around capital and OM&A, and which is relevant to its performance measured by total cost over energy delivered.


Now, I am just going to go back to the evidence on that, because my point is that this is consistent with where the Board is going.  And of course it's in the framework, but it's not like we have to wait until a formal report is released and implemented before we start evaluating utility decisions and performance in that manner.  These are relevant considerations now, but certainly what has been driving Enersource.


So if you go to slide 17, I have just given you references here, again, to this approach of lowest long-term cost of our assets, and that involves a trade-off between repairing them, replacing them, rebuilding them.  And I won't take you to every hearing transcript reference.


Page 18, there is a reference to -- again, to the asset management plan, and I do urge you to read that.  It's 129 pages of analysis on an asset-by-asset basis, which applies this methodology, lowest long-term cost in making asset decisions.


And of course, Mr. Pastoric gave evidence on how he makes those decisions, and when they make their decisions about assets, it's lowest long-term cost and it's the energy and capacity provided by those assets.  That's what they look to to manage towards.  And I will just give you the reference, without taking you to it.  In our argument in-chief at paragraph 22, we have some excerpts from that, the exchange where Mr. Pastoric says:  Well, that's what we actually do.


The point here is not to say, on a comparative basis, that Enersource is better than every other utility.  That is not what the comparison is meant to demonstrate; it's that this is the approach Enersource takes and it's a -- and they are successful at that approach.  They do make that trade-off.  Even if, when you compare them in a yearbook, it looks like they are undercapitalizing, I think they are making the right choices for the customers.  And if the Board were to say:  You have got it wrong.  It shouldn't be lowest long-term cost to meet the energy requirements of your customers.  You should be doing something else.  It should be OM&A per customer.  It should be lowest total per customer as opposed to per energy, that's at odds with this.  You are telling Enersource:  Go back to the drawing board, scrap your asset management plan, start over, because your strategy is fundamentally flawed.  I submit that if the Board adopts that policy and specifically directs Enersource to do it -- which is what would be required, because you have to change the whole organization to change this ethic-- in my submission that would be bad policy.  That would be bad for the customers and bad for the electricity system.


I was going to move on now to the second point around the ICR proposal, unless there are any further questions on that.


I am at slide 19, addressing the two-year rates proposal.  And I did notice in putting this together that the slide actually dropped off, which I am sure you are not lamenting, but let me just give you a bit of an introduction to this.


This ultimately -- this decision around the two-year 
-- leaving aside the prudence of the expenditures in the 2014 year, which didn't really attract any real question.  I think the prudence was thoroughly laid out for the expenditures, just as it was for 2013, and no one seemed to have a problem with those either.


MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. Vegh, I am not following as quickly as I should.  You have just given us the overall explanation of the trade-offs between capital and OM&A, which prompted me to go and look at the individual OM&A drivers to make -- you know, satisfy myself that that is the appropriate trade-off.  Are you going to get to that at some point later on, in terms of, there were issues with specific OM&A increases, and do they link to this trade-off that you are talking about between capital and OM&A?


MR. VEGH:  So I was going to go through the intervenor positions on the OM&A expenditures.  Some of them do explicitly involve that trade-off, implementing the asset management plan.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Okay.


MR. VEGH:  Some of them -- well, some of them are not as directly linked to that.  But my more general point is that when you're examining the performance of the utility, if we look at their total cost -- and that should inform just how micro you get in a sense.


MS. CONBOY:  Yes, no, I am understanding your argument, but also to take the next step to saying, well, we have got this trade-off, and we are actually moving to the lowest long-term lifetime cost with respect to capital, capital investment, and that there are some trade-offs that we are going to look at maintenance and repairing prior to replacement.  It then leads you to go and look at where the cost drivers are on the OM&A to see whether that link is made.


So I'm just -- when we get to that point perhaps you could point out to us where the cost drivers are linked to that trade-off, please.


MR. VEGH:  I will do that.  Now, what I am making a note of for is that this is addressed in the pre-filed evidence as well quite explicitly.  This is reply argument, so I am really reacting to what the intervenors have addressed as particular concerns with OM&A expenses, so it's not as linked up to that.


So for example, a big driver of OM&A expenses is overtime, overtime for line workers who are out there doing repair work, and that's not something that led to an intervenor response.


What I would like to do in response to your question is go through the particular intervenor submissions with respect to the costs that they would like to see removed, recognizing that there are some costs within those categories that don't necessarily create the link-up between OM&A and capital, but I will identify for you when I get there what are the links-up between OM&A and capital, whether in our chief or in reply.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.


So I am turning now to the issue of the ICR proposal.  And as I was saying, in evaluating the ICR proposal, it's both looking at the appropriateness of the capital expenditures for 2014, but more fundamentally I think the question has become -- this is a departure from policy, and Enersource is not in a position of seeking a rebasing, is not facing financial distress.  The evidence is quite clear about that.  And it was never suggested otherwise.  So the question is, why should the Board depart from its policy and permit this in that light.


Now, I am going to address -- the specific response is to intervenor criticisms, but I will say overall the reaction on a whole is that there has been -- is that there is a much stronger preference for simply not departing from the policy.  And sorry, the Board is going to have to -- not have to.  I didn't mean to put it that way.  The Board will be doing a trade-off between maintaining the stability of the current policy versus considering an innovative approach, and I think the intervenors have given almost absolute and total weight to maintaining the status quo and given little thought to the value of innovation in these sorts of approaches as well.


And I am not saying there is no value in the stability.  We do recognize that.  We are not dismissing that.  But that should be balanced against the merits of the proposal on its own terms.


And I would also say that, in terms of the value of the stability, sometimes people can overstate what the consequences are of having a slight revision from the policy, and I really think this is a slight revision.  It's a tweaking.  It's a particular approach for one year of capital.


And I recall a couple of years ago Enersource first made the proposal that we should align rate years with calendar years, and there should be a January 1 rate year, and every intervenor rose up in arms, saying, you know, You just can't do this.  This is fundamentally different than what's currently the practice.

And it turns out it was done, and it was not -- it's really not that big a deal.  Lots of utilities do this.  And the point is that -- the point I'm making is that the Board's regulatory system is really quite robust, and it's robust enough to manage different types of variations when they are in the public interest, and that's really the criteria:  Is it in the public interest to give this a try, to allow this to go forward?  What are the costs and benefits for the public interest?


And how Enersource justifies this proposal and the public-interest considerations is, of course, by reference to the Board's statutory objectives.  That should be the criteria ultimately in making decisions.


And so we lay out at slide 19, one of your objectives, obviously, is to protect the interest of consumers with respect to prices and adequacy, et cetera, of service.


And Enersource's point, as you are well-aware, and I won't belabour it, is Enersource's submission is that there is a consumer interest in rate-smoothing.


And the important -- and so if, you know, if costs are incurred in 2014, those costs will make -- and if those costs are prudently incurred in 2014, those costs will make their way to the ratepayers in a subsequent rebasing.


And I think that's an important point when we consider smoothing.  If those costs are prudently incurred, they will be passed through to ratepayers.  The fact that there may be other cost reductions, additions, et cetera, with different types of expenditures and different cost drivers doesn't take away from that fact.


If these costs are prudently incurred, they will be passed through to ratepayers.  That is our -- that is our system.  And Enersource's submission, in a nutshell, on this is that a gradual pass-through of these costs is better than deferring them, accumulating them, and collecting them all at once.


And those costs, the costs of capital incurred in 2014, if prudent, are not impacted one way or another by any other cost drivers.  So that's the consumer side of it.


The other OEB objective that's usually balanced as well with that is the objective, statutory objective, of economic efficiency, cost-effectiveness, and the facilitating the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry.


And the approach of the ICR proposal is to take a forward look at this on a longer-term basis to address financial viability.


Now, again, Enersource is not claiming it's going to go bankrupt, it's going to face financial hardship if this doesn't permit it, but there is a tsunami -- that's an overstatement.  There is more expenditures coming, and I think the Board is aware of that.  It's a guiding principle of the regulatory framework review.  And there is no reason to wait for a crisis.  These are all long-term decisions.  We need a long-term approach.


Someone I used to work with would say to me when thinking a little longer-term, he would say that if you get run over by a speeding car it's not your fault, but if you get run over by a glacier it is your fault.


We know that these expenditures are coming.  Right now it's a steady state, and in fact Enersource's expenditures will largely continue to be a steady state, and this is addressed in the asset management plan quite clearly, but what we are looking at when we're looking at financial viability and capital expenditures is, of course, the relationship between capital expenditures and depreciation.  And when your system is aging, that gap continues to grow.  And there was undertaking, I think, that was asked for by you, Ms. Conboy, that addresses this point expressly.


And you see the gap continuing to grow.


MS. CONBOY:  Excuse me.  Actually, I am not sure whether I did see the gap continue to grow.  I thought the gap was actually decreasing between now and 2016.


But my question is that -- I don't see or I didn't see in the evidence where this iceberg was.  So between now and 2016, was this -- is this steady state.  And we have got a speech from the Chair that was made that I think there was some questions on.


But I am having trouble finding this huge glacier that's on the way, that we have to prepare ourselves for now.


MR. VEGH:  I will take another look at that undertaking, undertaking response.  We have different perceptions of it. 


But I think your broader picture is:  Where is this coming from? 


I think -- sorry.  Again, I would go back -- in terms of the evidence, I would go back to the asset management plan.  It does set out the issue four, five years out.


But I think the point is not so much that in this next rebasing -- or by the time of the next rebasing there is going to be this major build-up.  The advantage of doing this now is to actually get some experience with a very modest proposal, so that in the future -- I think one of the reasons the Board is looking at long-term capital planning is a concern about -- the prudent decisions around asset management will become more important as the capital needs -- capital needs grow.


But no, it's not going to happen by the time of the next rebasing.  The reason Enersource is proposing this now is precisely for that reason, because you don't -- you are not going to face this major sort of problem.  So we will learn -- even in this case I submit that we learned.  We learned that it is possible to do a two-year capital budget with the level of sufficiency that you would expect in a one-year rebasing.  So for a Board that is interested in and is trying to encourage and facilitate utility planning on a longer-term basis, this sort of approach of having a second capital year in rates does facilitate that utility planning.  And I can't point to you specific evidence in this application of what is going to happen 10, 15, 20 years out.  We don't have it.  The asset management doesn't go that far out.


But I would just say I suppose it's an element of judicial notice that the Board can take of the state of the sector in a franchise such as Enersource, which has relied on aids to construction from developers in building out large subdivisions.  Those assets will -- and this was done, you know, '70s, '80s.  This is in the asset management plan.  Those assets are reaching the end of their life.  Replacing those assets -- are not going to be replaced by new customer growth, just because the -- what you are now replacing, it's like replacing the roof of your house.  You are not getting new income to address that.


So I say that the issues are more out of period, to use that term.  The issue is a driver, not just, I'd submit, not just from a speech made to the Board of Trade.  When you go through the transcripts of the framework review consultation that was conducted, that's what the Board said is one of the key drivers of why we are going through this process in part of a more formal undertaking, not just a speech.  And there's a quotation of that on page 22 of our submissions.


But, I am sorry, I can't point to anything in the evidence post-2016 to say this would happen.  And so this is done on a more prospective basis, because we will learn things from experiencing with long-term capital.  We will learn things like:  What do you do with underspends?  How much is the underspend?  How reliable are these long-term forecasts?  It offers a low-risk way of learning by doing, to start introducing longer-term approaches to capital investments.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Vegh, I have two questions.


The first one is with respect to your general approach to this issue.  So is it -- as you have acknowledged, there is a Board policy on how rates are to be set, cost of service followed by IRM.  Enersource is proposing a departure from that.  So is it your position that the test that Enersource needs to meet is just that it is a good proposal?  Or does Enersource need to establish that it is better than the policy, or preferred to the policy?


I am just trying to -- I don't get the sense that Enersource is making the argument that it -– well, maybe they are making the argument that it is better than the policy.


MR. VEGH:  No, Enersource's submission is that for the purposes of the immediate application in front of you, this is a better approach than ICR.  And it's better based on the Board's objectives that I have gone through, because what ICR is -- sorry, better than IRM, because -- and the reasons it's better than IRM are both with respect to the smoothing, so the result is better from a smoothing perspective, and the result is better from a capital expenditure perspective and the return on the investment when the investment is made.


So yes, it is proposed to be superior.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But is that true, given Enersource is only proposing this framework for two years?  In other words, in order to reap those benefits of the smoothing and the recognition of capital, which -- Enersource takes the position that that's the way it should be done.  Wouldn't this proposal have to be in place for more years than just two?


MR. VEGH:  For an ultimate solution, yes.  So the two-year idea is -- it's a bit of a -- it's a bit of a test run on these ideas, and so it's incrementally better; it's not a fundamental change.


And I think that's the balance that Enersource was going through.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But how is this any different than a two-year Hydro One distribution case which we have done a few of?


MR. VEGH:  I think that's the point.  It's not -- we are not changing the world here.  It's a tweak of the current model.  It's -- our submission is that it's superior to the current model.  It's not the ultimate and end solution to the challenges of utility infrastructure for the province, but if the Board were to permit this, I think we would -- both the company -- the consumers and the Board policy development would be further along than if the Board did not permit this. 


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay. 


MR. VEGH:  As I mentioned and I will just point to at slide 22, the quotation from the Chair talking about the significant capital investments and expansion renewal and modernization that are expected in the coming years.


I would like to turn now to some of the specific critiques of the two-year proposal.


And in particular, as I said, most of the criticisms came from the perspective of maintaining the current approach and preferring the status quo over change. This is -- I want to address specifically the Board Staff critique.  I think it's a very thoughtful critique, and we are not saying there is only one answer to this.  This is matter of policy, a matter of judgment.  As I say, we submit that our approach is superior, but I did want to address the Board Staff criticism.


And at slide 23, they lay it out.  They say, first dealing with capital only, as opposed to comprehensive capital and O&M, is contrary to principles of good ratemaking.  And my response to that is that these good ratemaking principles are not that categorical.  The Board has had different focuses on different times.  The Board has used partial PBR and full; it depends on what issues you are trying to deal with.


If the issue now is addressing and facilitating long-term capital planning, then this is a good approach to facilitate that.


And so the --like all regulatory rate-making principles, these are means and not ends.  They should be designed and addressed to deal with relevant, real-world challenges.  There is not one principle.


The other criticism -- and I am at slide 24 now -- and Board Staff made this point -- others did as well -- that Enersource did not do a comparison between ICR and IRM prior to filing.  And that's true.  I think the comparison is simple, but a hypothetical one.  It's based on assumptions.  And the Board has that information, and that's as good as the assumptions that go into it.


I don't see why doing that comparison is necessarily a prerequisite to applying for this sort of approval, because ultimately, you know, you are trying to predict how a model would lead to a result when you don't know the inputs to that model.  So I don't think that's a fatal flaw with this approach.


I think any alternative to what's in place now would have to deal with that issue, that when you compare it to the status quo, the inputs of the status quo are not set yet, so it's just not possible to have a definitive comparison going in.  You just have to make certain assumptions.  And I guess the point is now, though, that information has been provided and the Board can evaluate it.


And then the final area where Board Staff criticizes the proposal is with respect to smoothing out, and what Enersource can do is -- to manage this smoothing issue is to smooth out its own expenditures over the next several years.


And I think I go back -- perhaps I am repeating myself here -- that if these capital expenditures are prudently incurred they will go into rate base in the future regardless of what happens to other elements of cost drivers.


I was going to turn now to rate base.  I am starting at slide 26.  There are really only -- I have two, but there is actually a third.  There are three issues in rate base.  There is the administration building, there is the issue of customer contributions, and the issue of working capital.


I am going to spend most of my time on the administration building because, as I said, that caused more interest.  And what I would like to do is go through the evidence on the building, and I want to break this evidence into three different areas:  First, what are the, what I call the basic facts.  Second is the reasonableness of the space requirements.  And then the third is the comparison to the evidence on the PowerStream.


So I am starting with the basic facts at page 28.  I don't think -- so these start with the basic facts, or the current facility, the Mavis Road facility.  There is not a lot of controversy about the inadequacy of that facility.  It is mixed use now.  You have administrative offices, you have a retail space for customers, and you have an operation centre.


The inadequacies are related to health, crowding, mixed use, congestion.  And Enersource went through a very systematic review of the alternatives to addressing those challenges, ruled out fairly quickly that Mavis Road cannot undergo further renovations.  It wouldn't make any sense.  You are throwing good money after bad at some point.  And a different approach is required.


And in particular, a new head office was required, and there was steps leading up to the choice of the head office of Derry Road, and I will get to those in a minute.


But the point I want to make here is with respect to the space requirements.  When Enersource, you know, made the determination that it had to look for something other than Mavis Road, it retained Avison Young and TAC Facilities Group to determine the spatial requirements of a new building, and this was done prior to the purchase of Mavis Road, so the spatial requirements for the -- sorry, sorry, I am sure I will make this mistake again.  I call it the Derry Road/Mavis Road.


Before the purchase of Derry Road the analysis was carried out of, what are the space requirements?  There was a suggestion in intervenor argument that Enersource bought Derry Road and then tried to figure out how to fill it.  That's not what happened at all.  Enersource's analysis of its space requirements was conducted as part of the determination to purchase Derry Road.


And the analysis of the space requirements -- I am not sure why intervenors said there was a lack of evidence on it.  Board Staff IR number 12 has very detailed and extensive evidence on it.  There is a quotation here from page 6 which describes what went into determining the spatial requirements and the spatial database.


I won't read this all to you, but it was done quite thoroughly, and now just -- the reference is here, and the quote is -- the quotation is here, and all of the different steps involved in making those requirements are set out at page 29.  And it was from those requirements that the Derry Road acquisition was -- determination was made, and that's at page 30.  I describe that.


And in choosing Derry Road, again, it was very thorough in systematic analysis.  It was compared to four different facilities that were available, 11 potential land purchase opportunities that were available, and the evidence is quite clear on the comparison that was made between these facilities, the basis for those comparisons, and the result of those comparisons.


I won't repeat them to you, but they are addressed in our argument in-chief at page 48.  The evidence is -- and there is a table that sets out kind of the bottom-line result after that comparison.


So the decision was made after comparing all these options to choose Derry Road, and one of the basic facts of the Derry Road facility -- these are addressed at page 31.  It's a 16-year-old building.  It's described in the evidence as a utilitarian building.  It's not a fancy spot.  It has a total usable office space of 79,000 square feet.  The analysis of the office space is required at move-in, demonstrated that 176 spaces were required; five years after move-in, 189 spaces; ten years after move-in, 202 spaces.


And the background worksheets leading to those numbers are set out in the exhibit that I referred to, as well as an undertaking that provided more information on that.


And then you go back to -- so that's Derry Road.  Now what about Mavis Road?  Because Enersource is, of course, keeping Mavis Road, but it's changing it.  Right now it's mixed use.  Mavis Road will be converted or reconverted to an operation centre with administrative staff and support, and that will lead to a conversion of the building.


So you have total of, say, roughly 70,000 square feet -- I am speaking in rough numbers now -- total 70,000 square feet in Mavis Road.  28,000 of that will be used for office spaces.  The remaining 40,000 or so will be used for the -- for operations, and I will get down to what that means in a minute.


But just for the office spaces itself we have 28,000 square feet.  You have an administrative office staff that serves the operation centre.  Move-in number is 127 offices;  five years from now, 134.  But that's the administrative centre, administrative staff supporting the operations staff.


The operations staff and the operations activities at Mavis Road are addressed at page 33.  40,000 square feet, and it's to be converted from its current use.  So it's currently used as an office.  That 40,000 square feet is a -- will be a -- will return to operations use.


And the people served by the operations centre is the remainder of Enersource's staff, including inside and outside workers.  And the outside workers, there's over 100 outside workers, and that's in the evidence as well.  And they will have access to and the availability of this operations centre.


As well as servicing those workers, you see the operations centre will be used for storage, training, warehousing material, shower facilities.  Now, fair enough -- and this came up in cross-examination -- that the precise design for the operations centre is still a work in process.  They have committees working on that, the outside use, the inside use.


So these categories of uses are –- directionally, that's what they plan to do with this space, but they haven't laid out the specific design yet.  The company is still working on the specific design.  They haven't made the move out yet, but by the time they are implementing the renovations, of course that will be laid out.


So when we look at the -- so those are the facilities.  I am now at slide 34.  When we look at the -- moving now from what I have called the basic facts and moving now to the reasonableness of the space requirements, Enersource's evidence -- has put evidence on this.  The evidence was the interrogatory responses, and then the evidence -- in addition, Enersource brought in as a witness Brett Kingdon of the TAC Facilities Group, who worked with Enersource to develop the space requirements.  You recall a couple of slides ago I pointed to all the steps involved in that analysis of determining space.  That was Mr. Kingdon's job to do that, and he has been doing this for over 23 years.  And there was description at slide 34 of just what his activities are, what his job does.  He undertakes collection and compilation of functional needs and spatial information and creates spatial forecasting for customers.


And he has pretty extensive evidence on how the Enersource space requirements at the Derry Road facility compared to the other projects he has worked on in his 23 years.  And these start at slide 35 and go to slide 37, when we start talking about the weight to be given to this evidence.  

But before going to the weight, I think it's important to take a look at this evidence, because he is asked a few times in cross by a number of parties -- actually, mostly by Mr. Shepherd, to correct myself -- and he was asked in-chief how these space requirements compared to other space requirements in his experience.  And I won't read them to you.  In every case, he says this fits within the range of what he has seen in his experience.


But the key thing that I would take you to to kind of set up the next discussion is he is always talking about how this fits in with his experience.  Mr. Kingdon was not brought in as an independent theoretical or academic expert on space requirement; he was brought in to address:  This is your experience.  How does it compare to your experience?


And as I said, there are two pages on how the individual office space requirements compare in his experience; that's at 35 and 36.  Then at 37, he gives evidence on how the common space requirements, the common space of the building fit within his experience, and he says the same thing at page 37.  They're within the range of what we expect to see in other clients, with one exception, the public retail component, because most corporate buildings, I guess, don't have retail components.  They don't also service the public.


MS. CONBOY:  Wasn't one of the -- the line of the questioning that Mr. Shepherd had of the witnesses was with respect to the actual input that went into those spatial requirements.  So to use an example, which I don't think Mr. Shepherd used, but would one area or one work group of Enersource each need an office and a working room and a meeting room?


I understood Mr. Shepherd's argument to be that TAC took that as a given, and then laid out the plans of the building, as opposed to questioning:  Do you -- the initial input, does that group, for example, each need an office, each need a meeting room and each need a working room?


I thought that part of Mr. Shepherd's argument was that initial input assumption was -- led to an overbuilding of the building -- an over -- an enlarged specification of the building.


MR. VEGH:  When we look at -- I know that's Mr. Shepherd's argument.  The evidence around the inputs that Mr. Kingdon replied upon, he described it -- sorry, I think there were three particular points.


It was an iterative process, so of course he didn't come in and say:  This is what you need to do your business.  He asked them that input.


But it wasn't just someone saying:  I would like a pool table in my office.  I think that would be -- that would be great.  It was going through, rigorously asking them what their business requirements are, and when you look at the need for meeting rooms, et cetera, meeting rooms on top of your own office, they looked at the actual data -- and I think Mr. Kingdon was very clear on this -- they looked at the data of meeting room use, and that was 
-– that Enersource had.  Like, you booked rooms.  And you look at the overbooking of rooms and you look at who is booking rooms and who actually has to use -- who works in teams and therefore would need a meeting room and not always could meet in someone's office.  He was quite explicit about that.  It's not just asking people preferences.  You look at the data, scheduling of -- data around scheduling.


And also when looking at these office requirements, what you see as -- in slide 35, this exchange with Mr. Pastoric, and he said -- Mr. Pastoric talked about:  Are we within industry standards of what you would normally expect to see in other spaces?


So the goal was not give everybody what they want.  Are -- is this what you would normally expect to see?  And he said:  Yes, this is generally what I would expect to see.  It's a functionalization.


Another big part of the -- one of the reasons why Enersource -- or why the Mavis Road was an ineffective working space, was -- I am going to get this term wrong, and maybe Ms. DeJulio can help me here -- was on this -- there is a diagram on this organic use of how -– or ergonomic use of how spaces are used, and you will see it's like a map in the evidence.  And it shows historically what teams of people have to work together, where do people have to be situated so that they can work together more effectively.  And at Mavis Road, you had people all over the place, and the determination to move the administrative staff -- this is addressed specifically in the evidence -- from are Mavis Road to Derry Road was a recognition that they don't need that much interaction with the operation staff.  They are discreet enough.


But if you want to look at how you can effectively work together as administrative staff, then you need a certain synergy between office space, meeting rooms, et cetera.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  That's good.


MS. DEVGAN:  We did a study called interfunctional or inter --


MS. CONBOY:  Unless this was already in the 
evidence --


MS. DEVGAN:  It is in the evidence.


MR. VEGH:  It is in the evidence

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.


MS. DEVGAN:  The study is in the evidence.  I am describing the name of it.  It was an interfunctional study.  I think we have the reference.


MR. VEGH:  It's Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 2, appendix 3.  I just knew that I would get --


MS. DEVGAN:  Interdependencies.  It was called an interdependencies chart.  It just showed which departments work most frequently with others, and where -- therefore how much meeting room -- or how many meeting rooms would be required because of that.


MR. VEGH:  I was going to correct the evidence reference.  Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 5, appendix 3 is where you will find that in the evidence. 


MS. LONG:  Mr. Vegh, just a question.  As I recall, Mr. Kingdon had worked on a variety of different buildings, but I don't recall that he'd worked on a lot of utility buildings.


Should that matter to the Board when we make our consideration as to what his view was on appropriate space?  Should we be looking at a utility per se, and what your perceived business is going to be and what the use is going to be?  When I think of a bank, I think that that has a specific space requirement, and so perhaps should a utility building.  And I didn't see that in Mr. Kingdon's experience, so should that matter to this Panel?


MR. VEGH:  So a couple of points.


First, the starting point was Mr. Kingdon working with Enersource to see what they business requirements were.  Now, it is true he didn't come in as a utility expert, but the starting point is:  What is your business?  How do you work together?  What is it that you need to do?


So I don't think he came in and said:  I am going to design this like a bank.  He designed it for a utility because it's the utility work functions, and that is what his mandate was, was to make this space suit the work function.


The second point is it's true he is not -- the only comparison we have with respect to utility buildings is with the PowerStream building, because the Board has had that in a previous case.  And so for that particular point, I would rely on the PowerStream comparison, which I will get to.  And in the PowerStream comparison, there was a reference to a survey of utilities and utility square footage, and the Enersource square footage falls within that range.  And I am going to have Mr. Killeen...  I am going to get you the name of the specific organization that conducted the survey.  It's referred to in the transcript.  And we will pull that up and we will give it to you.


So that's the comparison for utility specific.  My point would be that it's true that -- I don't know if there are people who for a living work on redesign of utility buildings versus, you know, office space requirements for businesses generally, and if -- so -- and you start with the business that they are in, where the customer knows, and I will address the PowerStream comparison and the -- I wouldn't say the industry standard, but at least the industry average that was referred to in that case.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MR. VEGH:  Now, the next -- so the office-space requirements -- and when Mr. Kingdon is talking about the office-space requirements as opposed to the common requirements and saying they are reasonable, he is including in office-space requirements the meeting-room requirements that are dedicated to that work group, et cetera.  So that's part of the analysis, and part of his conclusion that these requirements are consistent with what he has experienced with other customers.


Now, on that -- the building and the space-requirements information that Mr. Kingdon provided, Mr. Shepherd made an argument -- I am at page -- or slide 38 now -- made the argument that this -- the evidence of Mr. Kingdon should be given no weight, because Mr. Kingdon was not formally qualified as an expert.


And in saying that, I didn't really, frankly, didn't understand it, because it's simply an incorrect statement of what the law is respecting expert opinion evidence, so I am going to address that in a couple of slides for the Panel.


So the issue is should Mr. Kingdon have been qualified as an expert to give expert opinion evidence.  And I think the law is very clear that that's not what this is about.  And so I have the leading authority, Canadian authority, on what -- on evidence in Canada, because what we are dealing with here is a fairly technical piece of the law of evidence, this idea of qualifying through a voir dire an expert to give opinion evidence prior to them giving evidence.


It's a -- as I say, it's a formal piece of evidence law.  It was developed as a rule against hearsay.  And I won't go through the entire analysis, just the state of the law as it is today by Sopinka, Lederman, and Bryant -- and this is at page 39 -- where he talks about the reception of evidence from lay witnesses versus evidence from opinion expert evidence.  And he says:

"The threshold requirement for the reception of evidence from a lay witness" -- Mr. Kingdon -- "is that they must possess firsthand knowledge of a fact perceived through one of their senses."


And as you recall, Mr. Kingdon's evidence was all based on his experience.

"Expert witnesses, on the other hand, have specialized knowledge, skill, or experience and are not required to have firsthand knowledge of facts which form the basis of their opinions."


So just turning the page here, the Board has a lot of experience with expert opinion evidence, and this is referred to at page 40.  You have expert opinion evidence on the cost of capital, on econometric modelling, and why is that expert opinion evidence?  Well -- and why do you have to qualify someone to give expert opinion evidence on the cost of capital?  Because when the witness gives expert (sic) on these points, they're not talking about their firsthand knowledge.


If someone says, Here is a reasonable -- you know, here is an appropriate approach to a cost of capital, it's not because they have been out there in the market raising capital.  It's because of their scholarly work.  It's because of their academic work.  They are not pointing to their firsthand experience.


And if someone is not going to point to their firsthand experience, but instead set themselves up as an authority to tell you what is the right approach, they have to be qualified to do that first, and they are not -- otherwise, they are not in a position to give independent expert evidence.


Now, when we go to Mr. Kingdon -- and this is at slide 41 -- Mr. Kingdon is a practitioner.  He is not a theorist.  We didn't put him forward as someone to come in and tell the Board, you know, what is the universal standard towards office space.  He is not purporting to give evidence that's unrelated to his firsthand knowledge.  He has firsthand knowledge of what Enersource's requirements were and how they were built up, and he has firsthand knowledge of other companies that he has worked with.


And all of his evidence, when you go back to those series of quotations on the previous pages, he is always saying, This is consistent with my experience.  He is always talking about how it fits in with his work with other clients.  He is not trying to say, This is the standard to -- which everyone has to apply.


And it's really quite remarkable.  In this case we had counsel say -- we have had the evidence of someone who has been doing this for 23 years, who went through this thorough systematic analysis of identifying office-space requirements for Enersource, for a number of other companies, and you should ignore that, completely disregard that.


And instead what he says is you should rely on his evidence.  And as I am going to get through in some detail, he provided a lot of evidence, Mr. Shepherd did.  And the basis for his evidence -- he said this on the transcript.  He did some Web searches one night, and that's the basis for his evidence.  And he is saying, Disregard what Mr. Kingdon's evidence is, and instead I will tell you what the facts are.

Now, when you go over, I am going to give you some assertions that Mr. Shepherd made in argument, his written argument and his oral argument, which are not based on any evidence at all, just his creation.  So he says in his final argument:

"The workplace 2.0 standard is 193 square feet per employee."


When you go the evidence, he asked Mr. Kingdon on that workplace standard.  And you will see that Mr. Kingdon said, Well, it's much more complicated than that.  You can't just pull a simple number out.  It's a -- there are a whole number of derivations.


Mr. Shepherd gave evidence that -- he said there were three large meeting rooms that are not reasonable or necessary.  The evidence is that these -- they are large rooms, but that they can be divided and will be used almost every day.


Page 43, Mr. Shepherd's evidence at argument is that the CEO's office, including Chair, EVP, and support staff, is 4,647 square feet.  When you go to the evidence, and the evidence reference is there, this are offices for eight people, plus dedicated work areas.  It's not one office.


Then the final one is -- he says the lobby and customer-service areas are planned to be at least double and perhaps triple the size of the lobby and customer-service areas at large utilities like Enbridge, and there is zero evidence on that.


Now, I'm going to -- I was going to -- I'll just leave that and go on to the comparison with PowerStream.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And I think once you have finished the comparison with PowerStream, I think we will take a brief break, for your benefit and for the court reporter's.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.


So the slide 44, this is a reprint of Exhibit K4.6, which sets out the comparison with the PowerStream head office and the evidence on that head office that was filed in their previous application.


And you will see the -- I won't repeat all of this, but I just want to make this point, because Mr. -- I am replying to a point that was critical of this comparison.


But you see that the comparisons on gross square foot for employee, cost for employee, square foot for building, and you see that, while the square foot for employee is slightly higher in the new Enersource facility, it is just slightly higher, and on a cost basis it's lower.


Now, Mr. Shepherd, in his arguments, written arguments, provides a criticism of this comparison -- oh, and just while I am here, Ms. Long, you asked about the utility information -- or utility office square -- office-size information, and I referred to a survey.  This survey was carried out by the International Facility Management Association, and that term is referred to in the evidence as IFMA, and that has not a standard, but an average of square foot per employee of over 400 in the utility sector, based on surveys.


So as I say, Mr. Sheppard offered criticisms of this comparison.  First is that it doesn't compare move-in numbers for PowerStream and Enersource; it's projected numbers.  But of course it's projected numbers.  You don't design and build a building for the day everyone gets off the moving van.  It's a longer-term approach but, but it's an apples-to-apples comparison.  It is projected for both.  So there is nothing misleading about that comparison.


Second, he says it's wrong to compare Derry Road to PowerStream because that doesn't mention the employees left at Mavis Road.  And that's true, but this just deals with the PowerStream head office.  It doesn't deal with operation centre.  PowerStream has two operations centres.  I don't know how many people or what the spaces are at those operations centres.  So of course you are not going to compare two Enersource buildings to one PowerStream building.


And in fact, if you add the office space, the employees with office space at the Mavis centre to this comparison -- I didn't want to change the exhibit, but I just put the -- this is from the Mavis building information that's in the evidence and that I have repeated today.  There is -- 28,000 square feet will be converted -- or used as office space.  It will serve 134 employees.  So the square footage per employee is 208, which simply would bring the Enersource comparison down because it's less than the 391.


But for the apples-to-apples comparison between Enersource and PowerStream, we rely on this.


Third, the critique of the comparison with PowerStream is that with respect to cost Enersource has lower cost.  PowerStream built a new building to LEED gold standards, which will lead to lower operating cost.  There is no evidence at all on the comparative operating costs of the two facilities.


So to just conclude on this point, at slide 48, the costs of the head office were prudently incurred.  You started, Madam Chair, with a description of the presumption of prudence and gave an application where it applied, and even on the most narrow application, these costs, the presumption of prudence should apply and there is evidence that these costs were prudently incurred.


There is a small amount of unusable space.  Enersource has addressed that.  It's 3,700 square feet.  But as it says in the evidence, you compare it to a number of buildings -- these are existing buildings.  You can't always just custom make them.  They are going to have a slightly different footprint than you might be looking for.  And it's not a huge footprint, 3,700 square feet.


But converting it to rental space is really not a prudent thing to do.  It would be expensive.  It would require an additional 1,000 square feet for public access.  So it's not prudent or practical to say:  Well, you should take this 3,700 square feet, assume you could rent it out to someone, and then attribute that rental revenue to offset the cost of the building.  Because if you are going to look at renting it out, you have to look at the cost of renting it out, as well, not just the rent that you can get.


So this is not a realistic or a practical or a prudent thing to for Enersource to have done.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Vegh, obviously this Panel has heard a lot of evidence as to size and whether there is any excess capacity, and that's something that we are obviously going to take away and consider.


Your number is obviously quite smaller than the School Energy Coalition's number of space that is available.


You did also, if I understand your position correctly, say that there is some space that you are considering how you are going to use in the future.  I am just wondering, is this something that is something that Enersource should consider in the future, imputed rent, if in fact you don't actually use all the space that, at this point, you are thinking about?  I think your number here is 3,700 square feet, but if that were to be 20,000 square feet, is that a different business case that you should consider?


MR. VEGH:  I think that Mr. Shepherd's point is with respect to the 40,000 square feet of operations centre at Enersource.  He calls that a phantom -- sorry, Mavis Road.  He called that the phantom.


And as I have said –- and this is at slide 33 -- there are planned uses for that space.  It will be an operations centre used for storage, training, warehousing materials, showers.  There is no precise design.


But utilities need an operations centre, and if we are looking at that 40,000 square feet, I would put the same point to you.  If you say:  Well, we are not going to give you an operations centre, only administrative offices at Mavis Road.  You have no operations centre, and rent out that 40,000 square feet that you were going use as an operations centre, you have to ask yourself:  Okay, what is the market value of that, of a basement on Mavis Road with mouldy problems, that has driven the employees out, that doesn't meet health standards?


I don't know what the rental value is of that.  That would be interesting to see, but I think it would be very limited.


But that's the complaint, that that is where the excess is supposed to be.  And our submission is that is not excess; that is going to be used for operations work.  It's not suitable for an office space and you are not going to rent that out as office space. 


MS. LONG:  Thank you. 


MR. VEGH:  So I was finished and was going to move on to customer contributions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  We will break for 15 minutes, and we will -- do you perceive any difficulty in completing by noon?


MR. VEGH:  No.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Great.  Then we will expect that.  Thank you. 


--- Recess taken at 10:42 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:04 a.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Whenever you are ready, Mr. Vegh, we are.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just a couple of points to follow up from this morning to respond to some questions.


Ms. Conboy, you were asking where in the evidence do we see the need for future infrastructure, even outside of the sort of the next rebasing, where does it come up.  And I will direct you to the asset management plan, which is Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 2, appendix 1, starting really from page 38 to page 63.


What that plan does is it goes through each category of assets, and it sets out -- I won't take you to it now, but it sets out in fairly graphic form the shape of the replacement timetable for them, and you do see the bubble rising in that period.


And in fact, for pad mount transformers you see things like the replacement rate doubling from current requirements in five to ten years.  But that's where you will see those specified.


You also asked -- I think it was you -- asked for examples of, where do we actually see the trade-off in the evidence on cost decisions with respect to capital and OM&A.  And I will just -- as I say, they don't really come up in reply to intervenor arguments, because -- I am just responding to their points, but I will just direct you to a couple of pieces of evidence.


The general discussion around aging assets and the costs that go with managing them, as opposed to replacing them, is Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 1, and page 5 in particular, there is a reference of particular cost, which is, since 2008 overtime and contract labour has increased by, I believe, over $2 million, and that's probably the clearest and most uncomplicated example of the cost increases driven by the aging assets in OM&A, as opposed to in capital.


At a more granular level -- we haven't tallied it up, but you will see business cases, and the business cases address -- again, it's 60 pages, and it's like asset by asset, the decisions around OM&A versus capital:  Do you replace?  Do you rebuild?  And that's at Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 2, appendix 2.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.


MR. VEGH:  So I am now into the part of the argument which I indicated at the outset is -- in terms of my submissions, I am going to go through these fairly quickly, and giving you more information in response to the points raised by intervenors.  I will address points if you have questions for them, but I am not going to refer to every slide; again, not because these points are unimportant from Enersource's perspective.  They are still important.  But they largely speak for themselves.  And instead of me reading them to you, I think if you take it away, we believe you will have our position on these issues.


And I am going to start with customer contributions.  And you can tell me, if you can provide guidance as we go through, if the pace is too fast, or if it's too slow, or if you really don't need to hear this because you will just take the deck with you.  I am sure you won't hesitate to be blunt with me.


So I'm starting at page -- or slide 49.  And now we are just going through the list of issues.  And I do apologize.  Formatting hasn't always been consistent.  We have tried to attach the issue number to it, but we -- in putting it together over the last couple of days we weren't always in a position to do that, but they do follow the issues list.


So we start with capital and customer contributions, and the argument here from the intervenors is that it's understated by reference to average capital contributions over the last several years, and Enersource's position is that its actual forecast of customer contributions comes from calculations under the DSC with respect to specific assets that it has planned.


So regardless of what the average contributions may have been over the past, there is an asset mix.  That asset mix in the future attracts customer contributions different than they have in the past.  And you will see evidence, you know, with density, et cetera.  Enersource is just simply building different types of facilities there.  And the reference to the evidence on the changing asset mix and how that attracts different customer contributions is addressed at slide 50.


Going to --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I will just stop you there for a second, and I don't -- well, I have the argument in front of me, but I won't refer to it.  But was this one of the areas where Energy Probe took the position that one of the things that the Panel should look at is where actuals to date are for the year compared to what had been forecast, and they were tracking ahead?  Is this one of the areas?


MR. VEGH:  No.


MS. CHAPLIN:  No, it wasn't?  Okay.


MR. VEGH:  I don't believe so, no.  In this case they are relying on prior year averages.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Moving to page 51, and the issue was with respect to the working capital allowance.  There is a proposal to change that from the proposed working capital allowance from 13-and-a-half percent to 10.4 percent.


The evidence is clear that Enersource has sort of relied on best practices here, using the Navigant consulting approach which was used for Toronto Hydro, Hydro Ottawa, and Hydro One, and the Board has approved that approach in previous decisions.  And at page 52 there is a comment from the Board in the Hydro Ottawa case that we rely upon.


Again, just referring to the approach, but for -- and also on working capital allowance, Madam Chair, this is an example where Energy Probe pointed to -- Energy Probe pointed to the fact that, when you look at updated evidence, the working capital allow -- working capital is actually 17.1 percent, not the 13-and-a-half proposed, but Enersource is not proposing to make any changes based on updated information.  So the fact that the actuals are worse than had planned doesn't have an impact on Enersource's proposal.


Going to 2.3, Board Staff has made --


MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. Vegh --


MR. VEGH:  Yes, sorry.


MS. CONBOY:  -- I am not sure I followed that.  Energy Probe was suggesting 10.4, and are you saying, well, actually, if you used updated data it would be -- the result, using Energy Probe's analysis, would be 17, not 10.4, and Enersource is suggesting, what is it, 13.8, I think?


MR. VEGH:  No, sorry, so Enersource is proposing 13.5.  Energy Probe suggests the right approach is 10.4.


MS. CONBOY:  Right.


MR. VEGH:  Enersource's defence of it approach is based on the Navigant study which has been endorsed by the Board in other approaches.  And the only other point is that as a criticism of Enersource's approach, Energy Probe is saying that if you -- that the current information -- the current model produces over 17 percent, based on current actuals.  And our only point in response to that is that that's irrelevant, because we are not asking for the 17 percent, we are just asking for the 13.5.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. VEGH:  And sorry, I may be blowing through these too quickly.


MS. CONBOY:  No, that's fine.


MR. VEGH:  Where was I?  The Green Energy Act, issue 2.3, at slide 54, Board Staff has a proposal on Green Energy Act, and Enersource is agreeable to it.


At 3.1, there are several issues around load forecast, billing determinants, and we do get into a debate about how various variables are used.  And what I would suggest, I think it's fairly technical, and we do set out in detail Enersource's position in response to all the criticisms, and maybe I will just go to the bottom line on this, on page 61, which is Enersource's position after you go through all the variables and the use of degree day, et cetera, and the methodological questions, and the use of 31 years versus 11 years.


Enersource's kind of bottom-line position on this at page 61 is that the historical -- that Enersource has used this model.  It was used in 2008.  It was approved, not in a hearing, but by the Board's approval of the settlement agreement.  So it's been in use for 2008 onwards.  It has a high level of accuracy, at 1.7 percent.  When you look at year-to-date, it's tracking very well at a variance of 0.32 percent.  And that's in the updated evidence referred to at page 61.


And in those cases, even these variances of 1.7 and 0.32, those variances are higher than what's forecasted -- sorry, are on the higher side.  So Enersource would just say that this is an appropriate forecast largely because it works and it leads to the correct outcomes, but it also defends the specific methodological decisions.  I just don't think that you need me to take you to those.


Page 62, the CDM adjustment, the submission is that the CDM adjustment should be less than forecasted, but in Enersource's submission, given the Board has a variance account to track differences between actual and forecast, it's really not particularly relevant.  We do defend our proposals, but the variance account takes care of that issue.


Going on, then, to other regulated rates and charges at page 63, there are four categories of charges -- there are four categories of charges that they criticized.  And Madam Chair, this is an area where -- actually is it -- I think the complaint is that -- you know, the trending year-to-date.


And our basic position in response to these is that there are other categories of other revenues that are trending year-to-date in the opposite direction, but when you look at them on the whole they are reasonable.  So it's a bit of cherry-picking to choose some that are trending year-to-date lower than expected, while there are others that are higher than expected -- or higher than forecast, I should say. 


As I say, there are detailed responses to the specific concerns, the specific issues, as well.


I am sorry, if you could just indulge me for a second.  Thank you for that.


The one issue I do want to address in -- specifically with respect to the other revenue is with respect to interest revenue, and that's at page 64. 


And Enersource -- sorry, Energy Probe is proposing or is suggesting that interest revenue should increase by over $400,000 above -- by reference to forecast, because of year-to-date actuals.


Now, the actuals that are referred to by Enersource are actually gross actuals, so they don't include carrying costs.  And so we think that's a misleading figure.  You have to look at the actual -- the net costs of -- the net costs of interest, and this is addressed.


Now, we do include a figure.  I expect this will be -- so the concern is that Enersource relied on a gross figure or asked an interrogatory for a gross figure.  The gross figure was provided; the net amount wasn't provided.  And it's straightforward to verify, but frankly the net amount was not provided in the evidence, and so the -- I could sort of tell you as counsel for Enersource, make a representation, as counsel is entitled to do.


And if you would like an update of evidence and if you would like the opportunity for intervenors to question that amount, we are happy to do that, of course, in a sense open the argument on that particular point, but I do think it's inappropriate for just the gross amount to be on the record.  And so the evidence –- sorry, not the evidence.   The experience to date is 71,000 above forecast, not 425,000, and I will leave it to your direction to -- how to address that point.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, is it -- setting aside what you have just told us, are the figures that are on the record that are gross, is it in the evidence that they are gross?


MR. VEGH:  So the net amount is 71,000 -- I will answer your question first.


The 478 figure is, yes, it's on a table, which for every other year shows gross and net, but for this particular year in the forecast just has gross.  So when you look at the evidence in context, you'll see every year you have the gross --


MS. CHAPLIN:  So we should be looking at the gross -- if the only figure that's on the record, setting aside what you have offered us just now, is the gross figure, then we should compare that to the other gross figures; is that what your argument would be?


MR. VEGH:  Yes.


I am going to get some direction.  Perhaps I can get back to you on that, Madam Chair?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure. 


MR. VEGH:  So I will get back to you on the interest issue.  I apologize for that.


So I am going to go to the -- move on from other revenues and go to 4.1.  That is the OM&A forecast, and the claims with respect to those forecasts being excessive.


And the categories are addressed at page 67. 


So when you look at the specific concerns with respect to the corporate -- with respect to O&M costs, I am going to start at the corporate compensation costs at page 68.


The concern is with respect to the forecasted corporate compensation costs, and the argument is that those costs should be -- the corporate compensation costs should be limited to a 2.5 percent annual growth.


The first position from Enersource is that the -- when you look at the total cost for -- corporate costs, it's been compounding at about two-and-a-half, 2.8 percent a year.  With respect to compensation in particular, the reason why the compensation is tracking higher than the total are listed at page 69.


Compensation addresses employee benefit costs, and that's really driven by pension costs.  There are some increased staff levels due to compliance costs, and that's two positions, and increased management responsibility leading to increased average compensation.  And there was evidence in cross-examination on that point, where Mr. Pastoric was saying that the ratios between managers and staff had been reduced so that management could be doing more -- could be doing more work, as well, not just managing.  And that has led to increased compensation costs.


So for the corporate compensation, Enersource's basic point is that the total compensation is at 2.8 percent compounded.  It's true that the -- so the total costs are at 2.8 percent compounded.  The compensation is outside of that, but these are the specific drivers for the compensation cost.  And benefits are a big part of that, and that's -- those are committed costs.


In terms of corporate allocation, the intervenors have proposed going back to the 2008 corporate allocation, so that involves going from 93.4 percent to 83.8 percent.


Enersource's position is simply that the 93.4 percent represents the actual contribution to the regulated company.  In 2008 there was a different business model, and there was -- the corporation was getting involved in or wanted to get involved in different lines of businesses.


Right now those costs are not being used for those lines of businesses.  They are being provided to the utility.  So that is what the actual costs are.


The next issue is capitalization, and that's addressed at slide --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Vegh, just to take you back to the corporate allocation, so as you have explained it, this is what the actual costs are, but isn't the question what should the costs be?


MR. VEGH:  Well, the costs in 2008 were based on what the actual costs were at that time.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But if the same services are being provided, the same kind of support, why should the kind of absolute dollar amount really be any different, bearing in mind inflation or -- but why, just because another part of the business shrank, should the remaining part of the business bear more costs on an absolute sense?


MR. VEGH:  Well, because the employees are dedicating more time and more effort to the remaining part of the business.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So they are actually producing more work.  There is more being done.  There's a greater contribution.  Is that the argument?


MR. VEGH:  There is.  It's difficult to -- yes, that is Enersource's position, yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


MR. VEGH:  At slide 71, there is a proposal to increase 2013 capitalization ratio from 20.7 to 26.1.  Enersource's position in the first case is that this would lead to greater -- in the long run, this would lead to greater costs for ratepayers, because it would increase rate base, as opposed to a pass-through.


And more to the point, the capitalization policy remains unchanged.  It's been what it's been and what was approved last time, but the ratio in any given year simply reflects the projects to be undertaken in that year.


And this, again, goes, I think, to the aging-assets issue.  Enersource is more in a maintenance mode right now than it is in a new-build mode, given the age of the assets and given Enersource's strategy around fixing before replacing.


With the asset management plan there is more information on how to manage the assets.  And when you go to appendix 2-K, that just lists the projects, and the capitalization kind of follows the projects.  It doesn't drive the projects.


MS. CONBOY:  Can you walk me through the position that it would lead to an increase in rates over time, moving from OM&A to capital?


MR. VEGH:  Well, I believe it lead -- would go into rate base.  And if it goes into rate base, the utility earns a return on it.


MS. CONBOY:  Yes.  Okay.  I guess it's a mathematical question.  Wouldn't it be in terms of whether that $2 million through OM&A, which would go straight to revenue requirement, versus $2 million into rate base, and it would just be the return of, and of capital that would go to revenue requirement?


MR. VEGH:  Yes, but I think over time, because you are earning a return, the net cost is larger when money goes into rate base than when it's expensed.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.


MR. VEGH:  I mentioned at page 72 that the driver for this is moving from growth to maintenance, and you have heard a lot about that.


Going to page 73, it's bad debt and late payment revenue, and the Energy Probe's proposal here is that -- this is again, Madam Chair, based on 2012 actuals -- that bad debt expense should be increased.


But Enersource's point is that bad debt/delayed payment are the other side -- are the side to the same coin, the other side of the same coin, and if there is a reduction in bad debt expense, that also would lead to an offsetting reduction in late payment expense.  This is recognized by Board Staff in its submissions.


And so -- and with respect to the -- on page 74 with respect to the 2012 actuals that were provided at that time -- and this is a reference -- and there is a reference to the evidence about this -- this information was up-to-date to June, and that of course deals with bills that were provided prior to that time, prior to the hot summer weather, overall increases in commodity prices.


Enersource is confident on the level of doubtful account for the forecasted future and doesn't believe that the experience year-to-date 2012 cutting off in June takes away from that forecast.


At page 75, responding to the intervenor position with respect to the incentive plan, there are two points being made here.  First is that the incentive costs should be reduced on the assumption that the targets will not be met, and the second is that the amounts tied to financial performance should be reduced, because it doesn't benefit ratepayers.


So in response, dealing with the second point first, the incentive costs relate only to incentive benefits payable for -- relating to reliability, safety, and ESQR.  The net income component is not -- is not paid for by ratepayers, it's paid for by the shareholders.


And with respect to those areas of reliability, safety, and service quality, Enersource's submission is that incenting employees to achieve these targets does benefit ratepayers.


With respect to base salaries, there is a proposal to reduce base salary increases from 3.25 to 2 percent.  Enersource is -- I am at page 76.  Enersource's response would point to -- or to purport to characterize responses by a reference to the different types of compensation.


So on page 76 there is a reference to the collective agreements that Enersource has entered into with the IBW, which are similar to those granted by Hydro One, Brampton, Horizon, and PowerStream, so that's for the collective agreements with respect to non-union increases at page 77.


Enersource has relied upon the compensation survey data produced by the Hay Group, and so there is an objective basis for the base salary increases for non-union employees as well.


At page 78 and 79 we address the issue of additional full-time employees.  And the basic proposition is that the company should be able to function effectively without the eight new positions.


So what Enersource has provided at page 78 to 79 is a sort of blow-by-blow of what these new employees will do and how in each case they will provide improvement and improved services to its customers.  And so you have the asset management plan as a driver, a customer self-service initiative.  The integrated operating model allows for better communication with customers, and the new building does carry with it new staffing requirements to operate it.  So those are the reasons why Enersource proposes that this new staff is required, to improve service, and service of course includes reliability. 


Going over to page 80 --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I will stop you there. 


MR. VEGH:  Yes?


MS. CHAPLIN:  So this lays out the evidence which, in Enersource's view, supports the argument that these positions are required.  Does that evidence also address the question of whether or not Enersource looked -- whether there were current positions that could be eliminated?


So in other words, instead of it being incremental, you'd say:  Well, we do have this new requirement, but we will rearrange ourselves so we reduce the number of people we need over here.  So it's not always layering.


And is that in the evidence?  And if you could give me some references, obviously not right now but as you progress, maybe they can find that evidence.


MR. VEGH:  The answer is yes, there is evidence on the process that Enersource goes through to ensure that staff is fully utilized, and if there are –- and only incremental new needs are met.


But I will have to take you up on your offer to give you that in a moment.  I don't think it's these particular areas that I have identified with respect to these particular drivers.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, of course.


MR. VEGH:  Going to page 80, the board of directors, there is a proposal to disallow the cost for the Enersource corporate board.  And the reference is in particular to the Erie Thames decision.


I think it's important and it's true that corporate costs were disallowed in that decision, and we don't disagree with the quotation from the board or its meaning, but we would just emphasize its context.


I am going to go to 81 and then back to 80, sorry, for the order here.


The Erie Thames board consisted of 11 members, and the costs of compensating the board members rose by an additional 104 percent.  And the board says you just don't need that large of a board for Erie Thames.


With respect to Enersource, back on page 80 here, the Enersource Hydro board only has three members, so Enersource Hydro relies on the corporate board to -- which has 10 members, to actually provide the governance that you would need from a board of directors.  So it's not like Erie Thames, where you just had too many board members given the size of the utility.  The corporate governance cost is in the corporate board, and the Enersource Hydro Mississauga board, as I say, has three members at a cost of $6,000.  The real governance is provided by the -- the real cost of governance and the support from governance is at the corporate level.


So we don't believe that the comparison to Erie Thames is a helpful one.


Page 82 -- I don't think I will take you into this -- this is an evidentiary discussion of what happened to $82,000 in property taxes.  I think the evidence, we tried to lay out how that is accounted for.


Regulatory costs, this was a position by VECC that the costs should simply be reduced from what was proposed at 228 to 150.  Again, the forecast is based on Enersource's best estimate, using its judgment on what it expected the cost to be.  There is no real basis for proposing to reduce that. 


MS. LONG:  Mr. Vegh, if you have completed the OM&A discussion, I do just have a question about that.


Earlier you were asked about, I guess, the relationship between capital and increased OM&A, and you have highlighted for us, I think, $2.1 million with respect to contract and overtime costs, which we should consider when we are looking at that.


But is that the sole extent of, I guess, the sections of OM&A that we should consider as being directly related to a trade-off between capital and OM&A?


MR. VEGH:  No, that's not the full extent of it.  That's just the most obviously -- obvious and easily identifiable increase related to that.  There is more discussion in the evidence on the costs of maintaining and how they have gone up.


The one evidence reference I gave you was just kind of the one that just obviously jumped out, and during the break was a convenient one to --


MS. LONG:  And is the most significant, I assume, on a cost basis.  But is there anything else that you want to highlight for us at this point?


MR. VEGH:  Remember, that's just an increase from '08, so that's not the total cost of it.  That's the increase from '08.


MS. LONG:  Right, but if I look at the increase in costs, that seems to me that that's a large section of what you are asking for in the increase, and I just want to make sure that there is nothing else that we should be turning our mind to.


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, just one moment.


I think that's fair, Ms. Long.  That's the most easily identifiable one.


The other ones are not as identifiable; say, staffing costs.  You do need -- when people talk about simply reducing staff, reducing employees, productivity benefits, when your staff is at sort of full capacity to do the upgrade work, you rely on staff more than you rely on capital investment.  So -- but that's more general.  You can't say that that's all the staff is doing, but they are certainly doing more, given that you are doing more -- dealing with more aging assets.


But I can't sort of now just say:  This is the percentage attributable to that.


MS. LONG:  Thank you. 


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, just to pick up on a couple of straggling points, you asked, Madam Chair, where in the evidence you would see examples of staff picking up more work and being transferred where there are needs, as opposed to just hiring new staff.


I said that was in the evidence but I couldn't give you a specific citation.  The reference is Exhibit 4, tab 4, schedule 3.  Pages 10 to 11 talk about staff being transferred to take on new responsibilities, or existing staff being required to take on new responsibilities and how that process works, as well as specific examples of that. 


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you. 


MR. VEGH:  And with respect to the interest point that I left out there, I think it's actually probably more efficient for Mr. Macumber.  This is a financing issue.  He has been guided to not really to stick to what's in the evidence, but it's easier for him, I think, to just say a quick -- accurately than to whisper it to me.  We might play some broken telephone.  I apologize for being out of my depth on some of these points.


So with your permission, I would have Mr. Macumber answer that point.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just before he starts, what page was that at here?  Is that 64?


MR. VEGH:  Yes, the other revenue interest and how these numbers compare and add up.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So really my question was just -- our preference, our very strong preference, is not to have to open the record again.  I think that would be our least preferred approach, and therefore I don't think we are terribly inclined to put any weight at all on the 71,000.


So what I want to know is:  Can Enersource make its argument using what's on the record?


MR. MACUMBER:  I believe we can.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Great.


MR. MACUMBER:  In the evidence that we supplied about interest income or other revenue offsets, we have included just the interest income on our cash balances.  And it does not include carrying charge interest, so we have excluded any regulatory liabilities or asset interest income that we would earn on those cash balances, assuming that I am accruing interest on regulatory assets or liabilities.  It wouldn't be appropriate, then, to take the interest income that I earn on cash and remove it from my revenue requirement as well.  Essentially I would be accruing interest expense.  The interest income that I earn, I would be removing that from my revenue requirement, so essentially I would be paying the ratepayers twice for those balances.


So in the evidence we have only removed interest income on our cash balances as other income source, and the 478 includes carrying charges.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MACUMBER:  Okay?


MS. CONBOY:  And that's -- sorry, and that is explained in -- you have got that in the evidence, that explanation of removing the carrying charges of the regulatory liabilities or...


MR. MACUMBER:  It's not in the evidence.  What I am suggesting is in the evidence for the 13 other revenue source that we have removed for interest is only on our cash balances.  It does not include carrying charges.  For the evidence, we relied on the U.S. of A. interest account number that we are removing.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. VEGH:  So I just have two other points to make to conclude our reply submissions.  And as I say, I will leave -- just leave the other points with you.  The one in particular -- so there are two I would like to address.  One is the capital structure and cost of capital at slide 85.


And the intervenor position there is that it's proposed -- it is proposed that Enersource change the method from effective interest to weighted average, essentially removing the -- removing the dead issuance costs from the rate of interest, which reduces the rate of interest, as you see in 85, from 5.09 to 5.03.


Enersource is agreeable to doing that, and thinks that that makes sense, but the result, though, is that the carrying costs will have to be recovered through OM&A, and that follows the practice of the Hydro Ottawa decision, where the Board directed that.


And the calculation of the costs of making that change are addressed in the evidence, and that's addressed at page 86, the actual figures for that.


So it's not a net decreased revenue requirement of 210,000, because you don't take it out altogether.  It's a decrease of 84,000, because you do have to include it in OM&A, the cost of issuing the debt.


And then the final point is at slide 93.  That addresses smart meters.  And when you go through the Board Staff's submission, there seems to be some misunderstanding back and forth as to what Enersource's proposal is on the smart meter costs.  So there is a clarification provided there.


And at the end, Enersource is not seeking to record additional -- and this has to do with the costs of dealing with customers who do not want smart meters -- who do not want smart meters installed, and Enersource is looking at proposing to record these costs in a new or existing deferral account so that these costs can be recovered -- so that those costs can be just passed through to the customers that drive these costs.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So where does the authority -- I mean, are they, like, customer contributions?  Where is Enersource finding the authority, if they are not proposing it as a service charge or a rate or...


MR. VEGH:  I think it's effectively a customer contribution.  It's a customer-driven cost.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So, sorry, maybe I should have given some more thought to this before, but -- so it's Enersource's position that the rules or provisions around customer contributions are sufficiently flexible that it would capture something like this?


MR. VEGH:  Well, Enersource's view is that the cost is implicitly permitted to be included in the existing deferral accounts, but there is nothing explicit on this, and that is what Enersource is requesting to make this explicit.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I am not -- no, it says here you are not going to put these in the deferral account.  I thought the proposal was, to the extent that these particular account issues drive incremental costs, you will be seeking to recover them directly from the customers, and I am just asking, if you don't get a Board -- if it's not on your tariff sheet and it's not on a service charge, where is Enersource getting the authority to say to the person, You owe us $1,000?


MR. VEGH:  So effectively that is what we are asking for, for the Board to grant that authority --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, so you're asking for the authority to do that.


MR. VEGH:  Yes.  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But you are not asking for a specific charge, and you're not asking -- so how would we -- how are you proposing we put that in a rate order?


MR. VEGH:  So I think mechanically, if the Board -- if the Board's decision comes out and it's agreeable, I think that would probably take an amendment to the specific service charge sheets, which is part of the tariff.  So it's an amendment to the -- it would be operationalized through an amendment to the tariff, I think is how it would work.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So it would appear on that sheet of extra charges, and it would be -- it would say something to the effect that it's recovery of costs.


MR. VEGH:  Recovery of costs attributable to a customer that causes an increase in costs for -- and this 
-- this increase in costs for installing smart meters, yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


MS. CONBOY:  Is that a one-time cost, or is that -- so you have got somebody who doesn't want a smart meter.  It's costing Enersource more to deal with that customer.  In the end the smart meter goes on, and they get this one-time charge on their bill, or...


MR. VEGH:  Perhaps I will just have Ms. DeJulio speak to you directly.  I think she has working on this project for a while.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MS. DeJULIO:  Yes, the costs -- by far the bulk of the cost would be a one-time cost in order to accommodate, for example, a customer who is -- is opposing wireless communication.  And if we can come up with a solution for that customer that is a wired communication installation, that would be, of course, an additional cost on top of what we normally would spend for the installation of the smart meter.  So we want to capture that cost and pass it through directly to that customer.


But as well, if there are monthly or bimonthly or whatever the frequency of reading the meter through the wired communication, if there is an increased cost in order to do that, we would like to pass that cost through to that customer as well.


And this particular proposal also captures cases where we have, for example, obstructions in front of the current mechanical meters, such as a fence built right up against a meter, and the only way we can change that smart meter is to incur the cost to remove a fence or, in one case, a stone wall right up against the meter, and those costs, we want to have the explicit authority of the Board to pass them through directly to those customers.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Ms. Conboy, and Ms. Long.  Those complete our submissions, subject to any questions you may have.


MS. CHAPLIN:  We have no further questions, so thank you very much to you, Mr. Vegh, and all of the folks from Enersource.  So that completes the proceeding, and we will be issuing a decision in writing in due course.  Thank you very much.


--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 11:55 a.m.
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